IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

COMMUNITY BANK

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

v.

CAUSE NO. 2008-CA-01521

DONNA STUCKEY

DEFENDANT/APPELLEE

INTERLOCUTORY APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COVINGTON COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT COMMUNITY BANK

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

ALAN W. PERRY, MSB #4127
J. CHASE BRYAN, MSB # 9333
MANDIE B. ROBINSON, MSB# 100446
FORMAN PERRY WATKINS KRUTZ & TARDY LLP
City Centre Bldg., Suite 100
200 South Lamar Street
Post Office Box 22608
Jackson, MS 39225-2608
(601) 960-8600

CLAY L. SLAY, MSB # 10272 ADAMS & EDENS, P.A. P.O. Box 400 Brandon, MS 39042 (601) 825-9505

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

COMMUNITY BANK

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

v.

CAUSE NO. 2008-CA-01521

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Donna Stuckey is bound to arbitrate her claims against Community Bank by her signature on the May 12, 2003, Arbitration Agreement.
- 2. Even if Donna Stuckey did not sign the May 12, 2003, Arbitration Agreement, she is bound to arbitrate her claims because she is a third-party beneficiary of numerous loan documents at issue in this suit.
- 3. Even if Donna Stuckey did not sign the May 12, 2003, Arbitration Agreement, she is bound to arbitrate her claims under the doctrine of equitable estoppel.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Community Bank filed this suit as a basic replevin action in an attempt to obtain possession of the property offered by Mike and Donna Stuckey ("the Stuckeys") as collateral in support of certain loans made to their cattle business. (R. 7). In response, the Stuckeys each filed a separate counterclaim in which they alleged – for the first time - that many of the signatures of Donna Stuckey are forged on the underlying loan documents, and that these loans were obtained through fraud and duress perpetrated by a former employee of the Bank. (R. 79). Further, they both allege that this employee misrepresented certain aspects regarding an 11-acre parcel of property and convinced them to buy this parcel for residential development. (R. 81-83). Specifically, they claim that the former employee of the Bank made material representations that the parcel could be developed for residential homes, but that these representations were false and that the Stuckeys are now left holding the parcel of property without the ability to develop it or sell the one home that they have already constructed on the property. (R. 81-83).

The documents for the purchase of this parcel of property were signed on May 12, 2003, and included an Arbitration Agreement ("agreement"). (R. 117; R.E. at C). The agreement provides, *inter alia*, as follows:

Dispute Resolution: Any claim, dispute or controversy between Customer and Bank, including Bank's employees, officers, directors, agents, parent companies, subsidiary companies, sister companies, successors, assigns, other affiliated entities or persons (collectively, "Covered Persons"), (whether in contract, tort, or otherwise, whether pre-existing, present or future, and including statutory, common law, intentional tort of equitable claims), arising from or relating to any matter, including, but not limited to, the Transaction, any past or future interactions, business or dealings between the parties or between Customer and the Covered Persons or any application, advertisements, promotions, or oral or written statements related to the Transaction, any goods or services furnished in connection with the Transaction or the terms of financing, the relationships with respect to the Transaction (including to the full extent permitted by applicable law, relationships and dealing with third parties who are not signatories to the Transaction or this Agreement) or the validity, enforceability or scope of this

Agreement (collectively, "Claim"), shall be resolved, upon the unilateral or joint election of Customer or Bank or said Covered Persons, respectively, by binding arbitration, as hereinafter provided, pursuant to the Rules of the National Arbitration Forum ("NAF") in effect at the time the Claim is asserted. A party who has asserted a Claim in a lawsuit in court may elect arbitration with respect to any Claim(s) subsequently asserted in the lawsuit by any other party or parties.

(R. 117; R.E. at C). Numerous other loans for the Stuckey's farming and construction operations contained the same Arbitration Agreements. (R. 120-274; R.E. at C). Based on this Arbitration Agreement and the others, Community Bank moved to compel arbitration of both of the Stuckeys' claims. (R. 112; R.E. at C). The trial court found the Arbitration Agreements were not unconscionable or unenforceable, and entered an order compelling Mike Stuckey to arbitrate his claims. (R. 299; R.E. at E). As such, the trial court correctly determined that the FAA applies to the contracts at issue in this case, that the broad language of the arbitration agreement covers these claims, and that the arbitration of Mike Stuckey's claims is proper.

However, Donna Stuckey asserted that her claims could not be compelled to arbitration because her signature was forged on each and every arbitration agreement – including the one for the purchase of the 11-acre parcel of property - despite the fact that she admitted signing the remaining loan documents involved in that May 12, 2003, loan. (R. 286-87).

Because the trial court had previously found that the arbitration agreements were valid, the only remaining question was whether Donna Stuckey actually signed the arbitration agreement, or whether she was bound to arbitrate her claims due to her third party beneficiary status or through principles of equitable estoppel based on the benefit she received from the loans at issue.

On March 7, 2008, the trial court heard oral arguments from the parties regarding Donna Stuckey's claim of forgery on the arbitration agreements. (Transcript at p.1). Community Bank

showed the Court the signature of Ms. Stuckey on the May 12, 2003, Deed of Trust, which she admitted signing, and on which her counterclaims are based. (Transcript at 4; R.E. at G). Community Bank also showed that its handwriting expert, which readily agreed that some of Donna Stuckey's signatures were forged on other arbitration agreements, testified by Affidavit that her signature on the May 12, 2003, arbitration agreement was *her true signature*. (Transcript at 11; R.E. at G).

The Court recognized that her signature on, and agreement, to at least one arbitration agreement would be enough to compel arbitration of her claims. (Transcript at 8; R.E. at G). With respect to the arbitration agreement dated May 12, 2003, the trial court noted "I mean, if everything else was a forgery, this still might hook you, this arbitration agreement." (Transcript at 8; R.E. at G).

The trial court further recognized that "... the signature on the deed of trust of May 12, '03, is exactly the same as that on the arbitration agreement of the same date." (Transcript at 11; R.E. at G). The trial court then found, with respect to the signatures of Donna Stuckey, that "[s]ome appear to be forged. My untrained eye can tell me that. Some appear to be genuine. My untrained eye can tell me that." (Transcript at 17; R.E. at G). Lastly, with respect to the May 12, 2003, arbitration agreement, counsel for Donna Stuckey even admitted that the signature "does appear to be hers." (Transcript at 19; R.E. at G).

In other words, the trial court recognized that although some of the signatures of Donna Stuckey were forged, that it appears she did sign the arbitration agreement connected with the May 12, 2003 loan and deed of trust. As such, her claims, which allege fraud and misrepresentations regarding the value of that property and certain title defects, etc., are subject to arbitration.

In the least, Donna Stuckey admits that she was aware of the purchase of the property, she signed the deed of trust for the property, and she is now a part-owner of the property. Under the principles of equitable estoppel, she cannot accept the benefits of the contract without accepting all of the provisions – including the arbitration agreement.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in finding that there was not compelling evidence that Donna Stuckey actually executed the May 12, 2003, arbitration agreement along with all the other loan documents of the same date which she admits signing. Further, even in the event that Donna Stuckey did not sign any of the arbitration agreements at issue in this suit, the trial court erred in finding that she is not a third-party beneficiary of any of the loan contracts with Community Bank, so that she could be compelled to arbitrate her claims based on those contracts and the doctrine of equitable estoppel. Because Donna Stuckey's claims are completely based on the May 12, 2003, purchase of the 11-acre parcel of property, and because she is now a part-owner of that very property, the doctrine of equitable estoppel holds that she is estopped from asserting her claims but at the same time, avoiding the arbitration agreement contained as part of those loan documents.

ARGUMENT

I. DONNA STUCKEY SIGNED THE MAY 12, 2003, ARBITRATION AGREEMENT.

In her deposition, Donna Stuckey claimed that her signature on *each and every* arbitration agreement was forged – even while admitting that she signed the other documents included for that same loan. For instance, Donna Stuckey has testified that she signed the Real Estate Deed of Trust in connection with the May 12, 2003 purchase of property, but denies signing the Arbitration Agreement that was included in that loan packet. (R. 313; R.E. at F). Because the signatures on these arbitration documents – along with several other loan documents – appeared to be identical to the ones that Donna Stuckey has admitted signing, Community Bank retained the services of a handwriting expert to inspect the alleged forged signatures.

Grant Sperry, a Forensic Document Examiner, has reviewed Donna Stuckey's undisputed signatures on loan documents as well as her signature on an Affidavit. (R. 327-29; R.E. at F). While finding that many of the signatures were forged by Mike Stuckey on many of the loan documents, Sperry has also concluded that the signature on several of the loan documents — including several arbitration agreements – *are, in fact, the true and correct signatures of Donna Stuckey*, including the arbitration agreement in connection with the May 12, 2003, Deed of Trust. (R. 327-29; R.E. at F).

At the hearing of this matter, the trial Judge agreed that Donna Stuckey's signature on just one arbitration agreement would be enough to compel arbitration of her claims. (Transcript at 8; R.E. at G). After hearing oral arguments and reviewing the Affidavit testimony of the Bank's handwriting expert, the trial court took the matter under advisement, but eventually noted in a letter that he would deny the motion to compel arbitration of Donna Stuckey's claims. In response to that letter, the Bank filed a Motion to Reconsider, in which it showed again that the

signature on the arbitration agreement in connection with the May 12, 2003, Deed was truly that of Donna Stuckey. (R. 540; R.E. at H).

In response, Donna Stuckey – for the first time – submitted her own Affidavit of a handwriting expert who stated that the signature on that Arbitration Agreement was forged. (R. 588). Shortly thereafter, the trial court entered its order denying the Motion to Reconsider. (R. 800; R.E. at B). In it, the Court found that "there does not exist convincing evidence that Donna Stuckey executed any of the arbitration agreements." (R. 800; R.E. at B).

The trial court erred in making this factual determination. The May 12, 2003, loan documents were *all one package*. It is incredulous for Donna Stuckey to claim she signed one page within the packet without signing the others. The signature on the Arbitration Agreement signed in connection with the May 12, 2003, loan *is* the signature of Donna Stuckey and – as such, her claims should be compelled to arbitration.

II. DONNA STUCKEY IS BOUND TO ARBITRATE BECAUSE SHE IS A THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARY OF THE LOANS AT ISSUE

The trial court also found that Donna Stuckey was not bound to arbitrate her claims because she was not a "third-party beneficiary" of the cattle loan contracts at issue in this suit. (R. 800; R.E. at B). However, this is not the case. To begin, Donna Stuckey is a third-party beneficiary, and a very signatory, to the loan contracts regarding the May 12, 2003, purchase of property. The very claims asserted against Community Bank by Donna Stuckey are based on the May 12, 2003, loan for the purchase of the 11-acre parcel of property. Specifically, both Mike and Donna Stuckey assert that Raymond McAlpin, a former Community Bank employee, made misrepresentations to convince them to purchase the 11-acre parcel of property from Community Bank for residential development. (R. 81-83). They claim they purchased the property, and constructed one residential home for sale on the property, but are now unable to

sell the home. (R. 81-83). Both specifically state that as a result of the alleged misrepresentations and/or omissions, they sustained losses and damage in the amount of the purchase price of the 11-acre parcel, \$30,000 for money spent in dirt work to prepare the lots, and \$75,000 for the construction of the one completed residential home. (R. 81-83). Clearly, Donna Stuckey was a *direct* beneficiary of the May 12, 2003, loan as she now owns that piece of property, and cannot assert claims based on that very loan without accepting the arbitration agreement as part of the loan documents.

In addition, the trial court's holding that Donna Stuckey could not be a "third-party beneficiary" under the other cattle loan contracts was erroneous. The trial court stated that its decision was based on the fact that Donna Stuckey did not have any interest in the cattle operation. However, this fact was simply not true. According to Donna Stuckey's own Answer and Counterclaim, "the cattle operation was in the name of Stuckey Farms" and "Donna Stuckey, was an owner of an interest in Stuckey Farms." (R. 83). These "cattle" loans provided operating capital that kept the cattle farm in business and has provided benefits and livelihood to the Stuckeys.

Therefore, not only was Donna Stuckey a direct beneficiary of the property loan, but she was clearly a third-party beneficiary of all the cattle loans. As such, she cannot avoid the numerous arbitration agreements in connection with these loans at issue in this suit. Therefore, Donna Stuckey is a third party beneficiary of each of the arbitration loans regardless of her signatures. As a third-party beneficiary, she cannot accept the benefits of these loans and reject the burdens of them. See, Terminex International, Inc. v. Rice, 904 So. 2d 1051, 1058 (Miss. Dec. 9, 2004) ("[t]o allow [a plaintiff] to claim the benefit of the contract and simultaneously avoid its burdens would both disregard equity and contravene the purposes underlying enactment

of the Arbitration Act.")(quoting *Washington Mutual Finance Group, LLC v. Bailey*, 364 F.3d 260, 268 (5th Cir. 2004)(attached in the Appendix of Authorities). These contractual "burdens" include the arbitration provisions.

Under Mississippi law, "arbitration agreements can be enforced against non-signatories if such non-signatory is a third-party beneficiary." Trinity Mission of Clinton, LLC v. Barber, 2007 WL 2421720, at ¶ 21 (Miss. Ct. App. Aug. 28, 2007)(attached in the Appendix of Authorities)(quoting Adams v. Greenpoint Credit, LLC, 943 So. 2d 703, 708 (Miss. 2006)).

According to this Court, "the right of the third party beneficiary to maintain an action on the contract must spring from the terms of the contract itself:" Adams, 943 So. 2d at 708-09 (emphasis in original) (citing 17A C.J.S. Contracts 519(4) (1963); see also International Paper Co. v. Schwabedissen Maschinen & Anlagen GMBH, 206 F.3d 411 (4th Cir. 2000)(noting a Second Circuit opinion finding that a non-signatory can be bound by showing a "direct benefit" from or "pursuing a 'claim . . . integrally related to the contract containing the arbitration clause.")(quoting Thomson-CSF, S.A. v. American Arbitration Ass'n, 64 F.3d 773, 778-80 (2d Cir. 1995)(both attached in the Appendix of Authorities).

Donna Stuckey's claim that she signed only some of the contracts involved in each loan, and did not sign the connected arbitration agreements, does not prevent the application of these principles. *See, Sullivan v. Protex Weatherproofing, Inc.*, 2005 WL 729536 (Miss. March 31, 2005)(employee bound to arbitrate claims based on Asset Purchase Agreement where arbitration clause was found in a separate Employment Agreement)(attached in the Appendix of Authorities).

In this case, the loans were sought and entered into to assist the Stuckeys' cattle farming operation, of which Donna was a co-owner, or for the purchase of property for which Donna

Stuckey is also a co-owner - *by her own admission*. The loan proceeds provided operating capital that kept the cattle farm running. Further, Donna Stuckey received the benefit of the purchase of the May 12, 2003, property by obtaining ownership and a Deed to real property located in Smith County, Mississippi, jointly in her name. In short, Donna Stuckey has accepted the benefits of all of the loans containing the arbitration agreements and cannot reject the burden of arbitration when it does not suit her needs. *See, American Bureau of Shipping v. Tencara Shipyard S.P.A.*, 170 F.3d 349, 353 (2d Cir. 1999)(attached in the Appendix of Authorities).

III. DONNA STUCKEY IS BOUND TO ARBITRATE UNDER THE DOCTRINE OF EQUIBABLE ESTOPPEL

Under similar principles, Donna Stuckey is also estopped from claiming that the arbitration agreements at issue do not apply to her, when she has brought her causes of action based on the loans containing the very arbitration agreements she attempts to disclaim. Under principles of equitable estoppel, Donna Stuckey is likewise bound by the provisions of the arbitration agreements which have bound the claims of Mike Stuckey.

This Court recently addressed this same issue in *Terminex International, supra*. In *Terminex*, homeowners sued the pest control company for breach of contract, fraudulent inducement, negligence, etc. The husband had signed the arbitration agreement at issue, while the wife had not. The Rice's argued that the wife's claims could not be subject to arbitration, as she was a non-signatory to the contract. However, the Court found that a non-signatory to an arbitration agreement may be bound to the agreement "if so dictated by the ordinary principles of contract and agency." *Id.* at ¶27 (citing *Washington Mutual Finance Group, LLC v. Bailey*, 364 F.3d 260 (5th Cir. 2004)). The Court found that the wife's claims were also subject to arbitration, *even though* it was her husband that signed the contract for pest control services. In fact, this Court noted "filt is doubtful that the Rices actually hope to succeed with this argument.

since Cynthia would have no standing or right to sue Terminex at all. Terminex would owe her no contractual duty and thus could not be liable to her for contractual damages." *Id.* at n.3.

Similarly, in Washington Mutual, a husband and wife sued and the wife insisted that her claims could not be subjected to arbitration based on the agreement signed by her husband. The court held:

In the arbitration context, the doctrine [of estoppel] recognizes that a party may be estopped from asserting that the lack of signature on a written contract precludes enforcement of the contract's arbitration clause when he has consistently maintained that other provisions of the same contract should be enforced to benefit him. To allow [a plaintiff] to claim the benefit of the contract and simultaneously avoid its burdens would both disregard equity and contravene the purposes underlying enactment of the Arbitration Agreement.

Washington Mutual, 364 F.3d at 268 (quoting Int'l Paper Co. v. Schwabedissen Maschinen & Anlagen GMBH, 206 F.3d 411, 418 (4th Cir. 2000)(citations & quotations omitted)). See also, Smith Barney v. Henry, 775 So. 2d 722 (Miss. 2001)(holding that Henry, as the heir and/or successor of the signatory, was bound by the arbitration agreements signed by her daughter who opened the Smith Barney accounts).

In the current case, Donna Stuckey has filed causes of action for fraudulent inducement and misrepresentation as well as breaches of fiduciary duty and the duty of good faith and fair dealing. These causes of action are based specifically on contracts *containing arbitration*clauses. These loans were made to Mike and Donna Stuckey for operation of their joint cattle farm and purchase of property for residential development. Clearly, Donna Stuckey's claims are inextricably interwoven with those of Mike Stuckey. They involve the same contracts, the same factual allegations, the same loan proceeds applied to the same joint cattle operation, the joint purchase of one parcel of property, and the same allegations of fraudulent inducement by the same former Bank employee. As Mike and Donna Stuckey clearly jointly owned and operated

the cattle operation as *one farm* for purposes of obtaining these loans, then the operation should be treated as *one farm* for purposes of suing on the same loans.

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