IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

COMMUNITY BANK

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

V.

CAUSE NO.: 2008-CA-01521

DONNA STUCKEY

DEFENDANT/APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE **DONNA STUCKEY**

ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

DAVID SHOEMAKE, SHOEMAKE & BLACKLEDGE, PLLC Post Office Box 1678 Collins, Mississippi 39428 (601)765-8284 (Office) (601)765-8282 (Fax)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

COMMUNITY BANK

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

V.

CAUSE NO.: 2008-CA-01521

DONNA STUCKEY

DEFENDANT/APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Because forgeries were proven by reports of both experts and admitted in Bank's pleadings and in deposition of Bank's employees, the Trial Court found that Donna did not sign an Arbitration Agreement on May 12, 2003. She admitted signing a Deed of Trust on May 12, 2003, concerning the purchase of a parcel of property from the bank. When the replevin suit was filed against her, she responded with a Counter-Complaint after learning of the numerous forgeries. She did make a claim for the failure of title and fraud in the sale of the eleven acre parcel to her and her husband but that claim is a separate claim from the forgeries on the notes that were attached to the Complaint in Replevin and all of the other notes that had her forged signatures. Additionally, a bank officer made himself a partner in her husband's business, took one half of the profits and left the Stuckey family with the responsibility of over \$500,000.00 in debt. Certainly, Donna Stuckey was not a third party

beneficiary of the loan contracts with the Bank and the doctrine of equitable estoppel does not apply.

ARGUMENT

I.

DONNA STUCKEY DID NOT SIGN ANY ARBITRATION AGREEMENTS AND IS NOT BOUND TO ARBITRATE HER CLAIMS AGAINST COMMUNITY BANK BECAUSE OF THE FORGERIES OF HER SIGNATURE

Donna Stuckey's signature on the May 12, 2003, Arbitration Agreement was forged.

The Complaint in Replevin was filed on June 16, 2006, and Donna's Answer and Counter-Complaint claiming forgery and fraud was filed on August 8, 2006. During discovery, Donna learned that there were Seventeen (17) loan documents and Twenty-eight (28) Arbitration Agreements/Disclosures containing her "purported signature". One year and four months after the filing of the Complaint in Replevin, the Bank produced a handwriting expert to report about his findings concerning the signature of Donna. The Bank's own expert found that out of Fifty-five (55) Arbitration Agreements and Twenty-Five (25) Loans, he could only say that five (5) signatures appeared to be the true signature of Donna. According to the pleadings filed by the Bank, their expert examined ALL of the signatures of Donna and by not identifying them as true signatures he finds them to be forgeries. (R.-417) Donna has conceded that her husband, Mike Stuckey, did forge her signature to some documents. However, her handwriting expert, Robert G. Foley, found that numerous signatures purporting to be the signature of Donna were signed by others. He also found that Mike Stuckey's signature had been forged. (R-627)

The Bank tries to over play the fact that Donna admits signing her signature to a Deed of Trust on May 12, 2003. As mentioned earlier, this was for the purchase of an eleven acre parcel of land. Out of the five (5) signatures claimed by the bank to be signed by Donna, on May 12, 2003, only one is admitted by Donna, that being the one on the Deed of Trust.

In Donna's deposition she testified that she was in the bank only one time, that being May 12, 2003, and that she signed **only** a real estate Deed of Trust. In her deposition, she clearly stated that she did not sign any of the arbitration agreements. The bank claims an Arbitration Agreement was signed on May 12, 2003, and Donna denies signing an Arbitration Agreement on that date or any other date. In the Bank's Amended Motion to compel arbitration, the Bank failed to attach all copies of the documents claimed to be signed on May 12, 2003. Those documents, being a part of loan number 67986486, clearly show purported signatures of Donna which have been identified by the two bank employees as not being her true signatures. They identified the signatures on the documents Bates Stamped 000100, 000101, and 00102 as being obviously not her signatures. (R.-578) Why would you have one legitimate signature on the same package of documents and three forgeries in the same package all on the same date. If any of the signatures were legitimate, why would it be necessary to forge her name in other places on the same documents for the same loan number? (R-577) The Bank also claims that documents were signed on June 12, 2003, by Donna. Donna was not in the bank on June 12, 2003, and has clearly stated as much in her deposition. No witnesses have come forward from the bank to claim that she was in the bank on June 16, 2003. Further, the two employees of the Bank have stated that the signatures on those documents dated June 16, 2003, do not appear similar to Donna's true signature. (R-424 & 425)

After the pleadings, the briefing, and the argument before the Trial Court and after having examined the documents, the Court entered its Order on August 6, 2008, denying the Bank's Motion to Compel Arbitration as to Donna and finding affirmatively: "There does not exist convincing evidence that Donna Stuckey executed any of the subject Arbitration Agreements;" (R-800)

Because she has admitted her signature on a Deed of Trust dated May 12, 2003, the Bank claims that she has waived her right to make her legal claims in the Trial Court against the Bank for

fraud and forgery on over \$500,000.00 worth of debt.

In the recent case of Byrd, et al v. Simmons, No. 2007-IA-01673-SCT (Miss. 2009),

"The Federal Arbitration Act requires that this Court first determine whether or not the parties intended to arbitrate the dispute in order to decide whether an arbitration agreement should be enforced. See, e. g., Grenada Living Ctr., 961 So. 2d at 36. In order to conclude that there was an agreement to arbitrate, there must be a valid contract. Grenada Living Ctr., 961 So. 2d at 36-37. "A valid contract must have (1) two or more contracting parties, (2) consideration, (3) an agreement that is sufficiently definite, (4) parties with legal capacity to make a contract, (5) mutual assent, and (6) no legal prohibition precluding contract formation." Id. at 37 (citing Rotenberry v. Hooker, 864 So. 2d 266, 270 (Miss. 2003). The Supreme Court and this Court have held that "arbitration is a matter of contract and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed so to submit." Pre-Paid Legal Servs., Inc., 873 So. 2d at 83 (citations omitted); see also AT&T Techs., Inc. v. Commc'ns Workers of Am., 475 U. S. 643, 648, 106 S. Ct. 1415, 1418, 89 L. Ed. 2d 648, 655 (1986)). At paragraph 11.

In this case, it is certain that there was no intent by Donna to enter into an Arbitration Agreement with Community Bank.

II.

DONNA STUCKEY WAS NOT A THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARY OF LOANS IN ISSUE AND THEREFORE, SHOULD NOT BE COMPELLED TO ARBITRATE HER CLAIMS

Donna is not a third party beneficiary of the loans at issue. The Trial Court's Order, entered on August 6, 2008, found that Donna Stuckey was not a third party beneficiary and found as follows:

"That the business enterprise entered into by Raymond McAlpin and Mike Stuckey for cattle in which Donna Stuckey had no interest and she is not, therefore, a third party beneficiary of said enterprise; and that the claims stated in Donna Stuckey's Counter-claim are outside the scope of the Arbitration Agreement." (See Rogers-Dabbs Chevrolet-Hummer, Inc., v. Blakeney, (S. Ct. Miss. 2005-IA-00125-SCT, Feb. 22, 2007). (R.-800)

Mike Stuckey was in the cattle business and McAlpin made himself a partner with Mike Stuckey. McAlpin handled all of the banking transactions, writing checks, directing debit memorandums, calling feed lots, calling livestock yards, ordering cattle, and negotiating for the

purchase of cattle. As a result of this partnership, there were approximately twenty-five (25) loans made in the names of Mike Stuckey and Donna Stuckey, containing forged signatures of both Donna Stuckey and Mike Stuckey, which totaled \$734,230.82. Out of these loans, McAlpin's name did not appear on any of the loans, nor did he have any collateral placed against the loans as security. Now, after this Complaint in Replevin has been filed attaching to it as exhibits, loan documents which all witnesses say are forgeries, Donna has learned of the large number of forgeries of her signature attempting to make her responsible for a tremendous debt which she had no knowledge. She filed a Counter-Complaint against the Bank and McAlpin, for forgery, conversion, misrepresentation, breach of fiduciary duties, tortious breach of good faith and fair dealing, intentional/negligent infliction of emotional distress, damage to credit reputation, and gross negligent and/or intentional conduct. (R.-79) The cattle loans and equipment loans have absolutely nothing to do with the eleven (11) acre parcel sold by the Bank to Mike and Donna on May 12, 2003. Donna's claim against the Defendant concerning the Deed of Trust that she admits she signed on May 12, 2003, is separate from her claims against the Defendants for forgery and fraud. In her Counter-Complaint Donna states that the Defendants were guilty of misrepresentation of the title of the property sold to Donna and Mike. The only claim against the Defendants concerning the Deed of Trust if for misrepresentation, breach of good faith and fair dealings and breach of warranty. (R.-85) It is incredible to believe that the fraud and forgery involved, admittedly by the Bank, of Donna's signature on twenty-five loan documents and fifty-five Arbitration Agreements, is within the scope of the May 12, 2003, Deed of Trust transaction. Even if there exists a valid signature of Donna on an Arbitration Agreement concerning the real estate purchase on May 12, 2003, that Arbitration Agreement would apply only to the facts and circumstances of that real estate purchase and loan. Her signature on such a document is denied but even if it did exists, she did not give her permission to the repeated forgery of her name to other loan documents concerning cattle, etc. As the Court pointed out in (*Rogers-Dabbs Chevrolet-Hummer, Inc., v. Blakeney, 957 So. 2d 170, 177 (Miss. 2007)*,

"We have made it clear in prior cases that, when we are called upon to consider whether legal constraints exist external to the agreement which might invalidate the arbitration provisions, the existence of fraud in the formation of the contract may be considered. (citations omitted) However, today's case does not involve a claim of fraud in the inducement of the formation of the contract containing the arbitration clause, all in an effort invalidate the arbitration agreement. While Blakeney no doubt agreed to arbitrate claims that originated from the sale of the vehicle or related to the sale of the vehicle, no reasonable person would agree to submit to arbitration any claims concerning a Hummer to which he would never receive a title; a scheme of using his name to forge vehicle titles and bills of sale to sell stolen vehicles; and the commission of civil fraud against him by misappropriating his title to the Hummer he purchased and forging his name on fake titles and bills of sale on various stolen vehicles-actions of which Blakeney was presumedly totally unaware at the time of the execution of the documents in question, including the arbitration agreement."

If in fact she signed an Arbitration Agreement concerning the Deed of Trust on May 12, 2003, her forged signature on twenty-five (25) other loans and numerous Arbitration Agreements and other documents totaling over seven-hundred thousand dollars in debt, is something that no reasonable person would agree to submit to arbitration.

III.

DONNA STUCKEY WAS A VICTIM OF FRAUD AND FORGERY SHE SHOULD NOT BE COMPELLED TO ARBITRATE HER CLAIMS UNDER THE DOCTRINE OF EQUITABLE ESTOPPEL

The Bank filed a Complaint in Replevin against Mike Stuckey and Donna Stuckey. The Complaint was based on seven (7) promissory notes exhibits "A" through "G" attached to the Complaint. (R-7)

Exhibit "A" was loan number 6870740 in the name of Mike Stuckey, only. The collateral for this note was a tractor. (R-15). Exhibit "B" is loan number 6819303 in the name of Mike Stuckey, only, and the collateral is a 4-Wheel Drive Pick up. (R-22). Exhibit "C" is loan number 6933785 in

tractor, and two more tractors. (R-31). Exhibit "D" is loan number 6842712 in the name of Mike Stuckey, only, and the collateral is one of the same tractors. (R-37) Exhibit "E" is loan number 6789412 in the name of Mike Stuckey, only, and the collateral is an assignment of a CD#98087 that is in the name of Mike Stuckey, only. (R-44) Exhibit "F" is loan number 6858317 in the name of Mike Stuckey, only, and it list the collateral as the same truck, tractors and is a second mortgage on real estate. (R-55) Donna's signature was forged on the second page of Exhibit "F".

Exhibit "G" is loan number 6803148 and is in the name of Donna Stuckey, only. The collateral is all of the equipment heretofore listed and cattle. (R-62)

As mentioned heretofore, the signatures claimed to be Donna's on the second page of Exhibit "F" (R-56) and on the third page of Exhibit "G" (R-64 & 65) have been examined and found not to be her true signatures.

- a) The Bank's pleadings state that their handwriting expert has examined all signatures of Donna Stuckey and determined that they were not her true signatures. (R-578)
- b) Joni Thornton examined Donna's signatures on Exhibit "F" and "G" and determined that they did not appear to be her true signatures. (R-577)
- c) McAlpin examined Donna's signatures on Exhibit "F" and "G" and determined that they did not appear to be her true signatures. ®-578)
- d) Donna stated in her deposition that she had signed only one Deed of Trust with Community Bank, that being the Deed of Trust dated May 12, 2003, and that she had not signed any other documents with Community Bank. (R-315 & R-441)
- e) Mike Stuckey testified during his deposition that he signed Donna Stuckey's name on loan documents and arbitration documents at the instruction of McAlpin without the knowledge of Donna. (T. 18)

Therefore, the only document supporting the Bank's Complaint in Replevin against Donna's signature is a document containing the forged name of Donna. In the case of, *Eddie Adams and Beth*

Brown v. Greenpoint Credit, LLC and Security Bank of Amory, 943 So. 2d 703, (Miss. 2006), Greenpoint filed a Motion to Compel Arbitration on very similar facts, claiming that a party, Beth Brown, was a non-signatory third party beneficiary and was also bound by equitable estoppel. In that case, Mr. Adams and his wife, Linda Adams, purchased a mobile home and signed a contract with the Bank of America. The contract contained an arbitration clause. The Bank of America assigned their interest to Greenpoint Credit, LLC. Linda Adams died. Mr. Adams and his daughter, Beth Brown, were on a checking account together and Greenpoint, after the death of Linda Adams, drafted an amount from the account belonging to Mr. Adams and Ms. Brown. Ms. Brown filed a complaint alleging fraud.

Greenpoint acknowledged that Beth Brown did not sign the contract or the arbitration agreement. In our present case, it is undisputed that the name of Donna Stuckey was forged on Exhibit "F" & Exhibit "G".

The Court found that Brown's lawsuit was not an action to "maintain a claim for its breach" and that she was not a party to the contract. In this case, Donna is not filing a suit against Community Bank for a breach of any of the loans attached as exhibits to the Complaint in Replevin and specifically Exhibit "F" & "G" that contain her forged signatures. She is not making a claim to enforce any of the contracts. Her claims result from McAlpin making himself a partner in Mike Stuckey's cattle business, taking one half of the profits and leaving Mike and Donna with all of the debt and for the fraud and forgery in having Donna's name forged to numerous loan documents and arbitration documents.

In the <u>Adams v. Greenpoint</u> case, the Court held as follows:

"However, arbitration agreements can be enforced against non-signatories if such non-signatory is a third-party beneficiary, See <u>Smith Barney</u>, Inc. v. Henry, 775 <u>So. 2d 722, 727</u> (Miss. 2001). In <u>Burns</u>, this Court stated: The principle that one not a party or privy to a contract but who is the beneficiary thereof is entitled to

maintain an action for its breach is not so far extended to give a third person who is only indirectly and incidentally benefitted by the contract the right to sue upon it. A mere incidental, collateral, or consequential benefit which may accrue to a third person by reason of the performance of the contract, or the mere fact that he has been injured by the breach thereof, is not sufficient to enable him to maintain an action on the contract. Where the contract is primarily for the benefit of the parties thereto, the mere fact that a third person would be incidentally benefitted does not give him a right to sue for its breach...

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